# Farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health

Systematic literature review 2022:8

Farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health Systematic literature review 2022:8 ISBN 978-91-89747-20-3 Year of publication: 2023

Swedish Agency for Work Environment Expertise Telephone: 026-14 84 00, E-mail: info@mynak.se www.sawee.se

# Farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health

Systematic literature review 2022:8

### Preface

Agriculture employs more than a third of the world's population and is carried out in different forms of varying scope and technical level in different parts of the world. Labor-intensive small farms are more common in developing countries, while there are often larger and more technically advanced farms in the USA, Canada, Australia and parts of Europe, where most of the studies included in this systematic literature review originate.

In general, farmers in our part of the world perceive their work as being meaningful and as a way of life. There is much in the occupation that positively affects the health and well-being of farmers, not least the opportunity to work in direct contact with nature and to feel that they are undeniably doing great social good. However, agriculture is one of the most dangerous occupations with a high number of accidents according to a 2020 report from the European Agency for Safety and Health at Work in Bilbao (EU-OSHA). The report describes how stress and psychosocial factors are major risk factors for farmers.

Much of the previous research and improvement efforts in agriculture have focused on the physical work environment. In order to ensure a sustainable and viable work environment for farmers, the Swedish Agency for Work Environment Expertise believes that knowledge about the farmers' organizational and psychosocial work environment must also be developed, compiled and disseminated. This systematic literature review includes reviews of empirical material from selected parts of the world deemed to be relevant to people working in Swedish agriculture and will hopefully contribute to drawing a comprehensive picture of an area that has not been sufficiently explored in Sweden.

The authors of the systematic literature review are Peter Lundqvist, professor in work science at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Carita Håkansson, associate professor in health sciences at Lund University and Karin Hakelius, doctor in agronomy at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences. Catharina Alwall Svennefelt, PhD, has contributed by working on the literature search at the same university. Robin Gullstrand, librarian at Lund University, oversaw the literature search on behalf of the Agency.

Cecilia Waldenström, PhD, has reviewed the quality of the systematic literature review on behalf of the Agency. The responsible process manager at the Swedish Agency for Work Environment Expertise was Thomas Nessen, PhD.

The authors of the systematic literature review chose their own theoretical and methodological starting points and are responsible for the results and conclusions presented in the systematic literature review.

I would like to extend my thanks to both our external researchers and quality reviewers as well as employees at the agency who contributed to producing this valuable systematic literature review.

The systematic literature review has been published on the agency website and in the series systematic literature reviews.

Gävle, january 2023

Non TRA

Nader Ahmadi, Director General

# Authors of the systematic literature review:

Peter Lundqvist, professor in work science at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

Carita Håkansson, associate professor in health sciences at Lund University

Karin Hakelius, doctor in agronomy at the Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences

### Summary

This systematic literature review aims to provide an overview of research relevant to farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health. It contains knowledge about challenges faced by farmers, their consequences in the forms of stress and risk of mental illness, and capacity to deal with these challenges themselves or through various forms of support. Important aspects also include the occupation's health factors and opportunities for development that contribute to a good working environment.

A systematic international literature search was carried out with a focus on studies concerning farmers, and thus excluded employees and entrepreneurs with a focus on forestry. Furthermore, the search was limited to the period 2005–2021 and to countries that have similar production forms and conditions as in Sweden, mainly Europe, North America and Australia/New Zealand. The literature search resulted in 108 scientific articles based on qualitative and quantitative studies, of which only a few came from Sweden.

Being a farmer is more of a lifestyle than an occupation. The freedom that comes with the occupation is more important to many farmers than a high income. Farmers also have a strong relationship with the place where they live and work, which is important to them and a central part of their identity. The farm symbolizes their values and personality as they have usually built everything from the ground up themselves. The overwhelming majority of farms are family farms, where farmers live and work alongside their partners and children, sometimes with parents or parents-in-law. Many farms have been owned by the family for several generations and farmers live in harmony with the changes of the seasons, much closer to animals and nature than is usual in other occupations and forms of business.

The results show that the health and safety risks identified in farmers' psychosocial work environment are workload, finances, climate change and weather conditions, crime, globalization, laws and regulations, masculine norms and loneliness, isolation, and a lack of support.

Issues involving poor mental health are generally more prevalent among farmers, especially older farmers, than in other occupational groups. Farmers have a higher incidence of depression and suicide attempts than other occupational groups, and mental illness among farmers has increased in recent years.

Health factors in the psychosocial work environment of farmers are not as well studied as risk factors. The identified health factors are: the bond felt by the farmer to the cultivated land, environmental and social responsibility, the ability to work, to be outside, to work physically, to eat well, a good working and living environment, to work with animals, a reasonable workload, selfmotivation, social support and a sense of belonging, an income that did not come from working on the farm and the ability to work after retirement age.

Farmers' ability to withstand and recover from the stress they face in their occupational role (resilience) varied between individuals. Support from family, nature and animals, and setting limits to work commitments, relaxing, or doing activities other than working also contributed to strengthening their resilience. Resilience is something that can be learned, which can be helpful for farmers. Farmers use different personal strategies to manage the stress they are exposed to (coping), and different coping strategies can also contribute to building farmers' resilience. This can involve planning, positive reappraisal (change in attitude to stressful events, humor, and leisure) and getting help and support from others. Furthermore, acceptance can be used as a coping strategy. More negative strategies can involve suppressing emotions, avoiding problems, or consuming alcohol.

According to several studies, the fact that farmers seem to be less likely to seek out and make use of resources and mental health services is due to a lack of regional resources and occupation-specific understanding of the target group. Farmers had the greatest confidence in, and were therefore most receptive to, information about mental health from doctors, as well as from their spouses/family members and friends. The wider agricultural community can contribute to social support, education, and mentoring programs for farmers with symptoms of stress and depression. Future suicide prevention efforts for farmers can also be carried out through education, training programs and national campaigns.

In the systematic literature review it has also been established that there is a need for more knowledge regarding: female farmers' working conditions and mental health, and the consequences of changes in the countryside brought about by deteriorating community services and increased crime. Studies and evaluations of various forms of support and interventions to support farmers' mental health are needed on a larger scale. An EU report on the future working environment in agriculture also points to the importance of increased knowledge about the stress factors expected to be linked to climate change, economic and financial stress, increased demands from government agencies and consumers, and negative criticism of agriculture, including militant activists. From a Swedish perspective, there is a strong need for in-depth knowledge of how the psychosocial work environment and mental health touched on in this systematic literature review apply to Swedish farmers in the 2020s, even though international results contribute to increased knowledge that is largely transferable to Swedish conditions.

### **Table of Contents**

Summary	6
1 Introduction	10
1.1 Agriculture and farmers	10
1.2 Purpose and research questions	11
2 Methodology	12
2.1 Literature search	12
2.2 Quality review	13
3 Results	14
3.1 Health and safety risks in farmers' psychosocial work	
environment and consequences for their mental health	14
3.1.1 Workload	14
3.1.2 Finances and financial difficulties	14
3.1.3 Climate change and weather conditions	16
3.1.4 Crime	17
3.1.5 Globalization, laws and regulations	18
3.1.6 Masculine norms and gender differences	18
3.1.7 Loneliness, isolation and a lack of support	19
3.1.8 Additional risk factors	21
3.2 Poor mental health among farmers	22
3.3 Health factors in farmers' psychosocial work environment	24
3.4 How farmers' psychosocial work environment can be promoted	25
3.4.1 Farmers' strategies for promoting their own good health	25
3.4.2 The role of healthcare in promoting farmer's health	26
3.4.3 Additional ways of promoting farmers' health	28
4 Discussion	30
5 Gaps in knowledge and further necessary research	34
6 References	35

#### Appendices

Appendix 1 Search strategies Appendix 2 Search protocol Appendix 3 Excluded texts + reason Appendix 4 Collected purpose, keywords, methodology, exposure, outcome, results and country Appendix 5 Quality review (MMAT) Appendix 6 Quality review (AMSTAR)

Appendices can be downloaded from the agency's website, sawee.se.

### **1** Introduction

The focus of this systematic literature review is the psychosocial work environment and mental health of farmers. The term psychosocial work environment is defined in this context as the human interaction with the environment: how people are affected by the work environment, but also how the person changes and is changed by the work environment.

Farmers have a demanding work environment, which has been emphasized both internationally by the ILO (2011) and nationally by the Swedish Work Environment Authority (2012). The Government is also aware of this and has tasked the Swedish Board of Agriculture (Swedish Government, 2021) with developing a strategy and implementing measures to reduce the risk of accidents and improve the working environment in agriculture. The government notes that "investigations into working environment conditions in agriculture point to challenges in the general working environment, to long working days and stress, such as that linked to external factors, which can lead to an increased risk of diseases, accidents and poorer mental health."

Both Swedish and international research and national action programs have primarily focused on the physical working environment of agriculture and farmers, not least through efforts to prevent occupational injuries (Alwall Svennefelt & Lundqvist, 2020; Douphrate et al., 2013; Lower et al., 2017; Swedish Work Environment Authority, 2012). However, corresponding efforts have not been aimed at the psychosocial work environment and the mental health of farmers, despite the increased need for sound knowledge and active support efforts, as pointed out by the Swedish Government (2021) and the Swedish Board of Agriculture (2022a). In order to improve farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health, a systematic literature review can be invaluable to stakeholders and serve as a basis for future work environment efforts.

#### 1.1 Agriculture and farmers

Farmers are defined by the Federation of Swedish Farmers ("LRF") (LRF, 2022) as the people who own and/or lease and are responsible for the normal daily financial and production routines for running a farm. In Sweden, there are approximately 60,000 farmers, which corresponds to 1.3% of the national workforce. A majority of them (58%) are 55 or older. If you include everyone who performs some form of work on Swedish farms, there are a total of 166,000 people, of whom roughly 40% are women (Swedish Board of Agriculture, 2022b). According to the LRF (2022), the majority of farms are family businesses where several members of the family are involved to varying extents. It is also common to have consolidated companies, where agriculture is combined with forestry, tourism or contracting (LRF, 2022).

Agriculture employs more than a third of the world's population, but in varied structures and scope in different parts of the world. In developing countries, this is most commonly labor-intensive small farms, while in our part of the world this often involves larger, highly mechanized companies. But even in Europe, there is great variation in agricultural farms as workplaces, with everything from small part-time farms with low mechanization and old machinery to large companies with many employees and high-tech mechanization (EU, 2021).

Being a farmer is more of a lifestyle than an occupation (Brigance et al., 2018). The freedom this entails is for many farmers more important than having a high income (Kunde et al., 2018). Farmers also have a strong relationship with the place where they live and work, which is important to them and a central part of their identity. The farm symbolizes their values and personality as they have usually built up and developed everything themselves. A study of the values of Finnish farmers showed that autonomy (freedom of action at work and financial independence) was of the utmost importance, followed by finances (making a good living, financial profitability and maximized profit), then societal values (rural development, meeting the needs of citizens, equality for all workers, the common good of the nation, job creation, vibrant countryside, employee well-being and respect for nature), and continuity (carrying on family tradition and the work of their parents). The farmers in the study were proud of their businesses and of being part of a tradition in which family plays an important role. They also felt that they know their job and have the necessary skills to produce high quality goods (Niska et al., 2012). In other studies, farmers describe themselves as entrepreneurs who are innovative, take risks and earn money, which makes them proud (Dessein & Nevens, 2007; Vesala & Vesala, 2010). Many farmers feel that they do meaningful and important work that contributes to people having food (Hagen et al., 2021). The conclusion can be drawn that their degree of pride in being farmers is strongly tied to the aspects that farmers can control themselves, while external factors over which they have no control, such as government regulations and bureaucracy, are more likely to have a negative effect on this sense of pride.

#### 1.2 Purpose and research questions

The purpose of this systematic literature review is to map the current research into farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health.

The systematic literature review will address the following questions based on empirical research:

- What are the health and safety risks and health factors in farmers' psychosocial work environment and what consequences do they have for mental health?
- How can farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health be promoted (by society, the industry/colleagues/family and by their own actions)?

### 2 Methodology

#### 2.1 Literature search

An extensive literature search was conducted to investigate health and safety risks and health factors in the psychosocial work environment of farmers, consequences for farmers' mental health and how farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health can be promoted. Agriculture includes crop farming, livestock production and forestry, the aspects of operations that are most often included in the farmer's work environment. However, forestry is not included as a sole activity as these companies are defined as forestry companies. Furthermore, research on agricultural employees is not included in the systematic literature review.

The literature search was carried out by a librarian at the Lund University Library. This systematic literature review is based on scientific articles, or their equivalent, that were peer reviewed and published in English between 2005 and 2021. The systematic literature review uses material from the Nordic countries and other countries that have contexts and issues judged to be similar to those in Sweden and thus relevant to Swedish agriculture and its working conditions. The review authors first selected five articles that were relevant to check whether these were included in the search results, as well as a list of possible keywords. Two sample searches were conducted, one in the Web of Science and one in the Social Science Citation Index, and the search strategy was developed and determined based on the Population, Exposure, Outcome (PEO) model, Appendix 1. Searches were then conducted in the Social Science Citation Index, Scopus, Pub Med, Google Scholar and PsycInfo (the search in PsycInfo only gave duplicates). Articles that had not studied farmers in countries with similar working conditions were discarded. The search protocol can be found in Appendix 2.

The lists of article titles resulting from each search were assessed by the report authors and were marked with green (relevant), yellow (possibly relevant) or red (irrelevant). Based on this assessment, the librarian compiled a list of the selected references (n=321). These references were shared among the report authors and a table was developed detailing authors, title, purpose, keywords, methodology, exposure, results and conclusion. The report authors then divided these articles among themselves and each article was read in full by one, two or three of the report authors. While reading the articles, answers were sought to the questions on which this systematic literature review is based. During this step, a further number of articles were excluded for not being studies of farmers, having the wrong focus or being from a non-Western country (Figure 1 – flowchart below). The articles that were excluded due to being the wrong article type, wrong focus, wrong population, wrong geographical area or wrong year are presented in Appendix 3. This systematic literature review is based on 108 articles (Appendix 4).



Figure 1. Flowchart of the literature screening process

#### 2.2 Quality review

The articles were quality reviewed using the Mixed Method Appraisal Tool (MMAT), which is a tool that enables the assessment of articles included in mixed studies reviews. MMAT can be used to quality review qualitative, quantitative (randomized controlled, non-randomized and descriptive) and mixed method studies (Hong et al., 2018). Since all of these types of studies are included in this systematic literature review, they were quality checked with the MMAT. The MMAT review begins with two screening questions to establish whether the article is an original empirical study, then a number of different questions are answered depending on the type of study it is, and in this way the quality is assessed. Each article was quality reviewed by one to three report authors, and in the case of differing assessments, the most stringent assessment was chosen. The quality review with MMAT is presented in Appendix 5.

Of the articles included in this systematic literature review, some are literature reviews that cannot be quality checked with MMAT. Instead, the Assessment of Multiple SysTemAtic Reviews (AMSTAR) (Shea et al., 2007a, 2007b) was used to quality review these (Appendix 6).

### **3 Results**

The majority of the studies included in this systematic literature review of farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health have come from Australia (35 studies) and the USA (26 studies) or Canada (7 studies). Few studies have been carried out in Europe and only thirteen articles shed light on conditions in the Nordic region, of which six are from Norway, five from Finland and two from Sweden.

# 3.1 Health and safety risks in farmers' psychosocial work environment and consequences for their mental health

In this section, we present the health and safety risks that have been identified in the psychosocial work environment of farmers. These health and safety risks are: workload, finances, climate change and weather conditions, crime, globalization, laws and regulations, masculine norms, as well as loneliness, isolation and lack of support. There are also studies that address other risk factors and these are presented at the end of this section. Additionally, we present the consequences that these health and safety risks can have on farmers' mental health.

#### 3.1.1 Workload

A study among dairy farmers in Australia showed that those farmers had extremely high levels of poor mental health and that this could be linked, among other issues, to the workload on the farm (Wallis & Dollard, 2008). Feeling pressed for time was also one of the most concerning stressors for Australian farmers (McShane & Quirk, 2009), American farmers (Rudolphi et al., 2020) and farmers in an international study (Lunner-Kolstrup et al., 2013). Common stress factors for Finnish farmers included the amount of work, unpredictability and animal illness. Strain related to workload and animal health were associated with symptoms of stress and fatigue (Kallioniemi et al., 2008). A study on stressors among farmers in New Zealand found that increased workload during peak season was one of the main stressors (Firth et al., 2007). In a study from Norway on farmers' workload and mental well-being (Logstein, 2016a), it emerged that farmers had a heavy workload in agriculture and that this, along with employment outside the farm, was associated with anxiety and psychological difficulties. The high workload can lead to farmers feeling that they do not have enough time to spend with family and to recuperate, according to a study from North Carolina (Keraney et al., 2014).

#### 3.1.2 Finances and financial difficulties

The issue of agricultural entrepreneurship and financial problems has been included in many studies (Fennell et al., 2016; Kallioniemi et al., 2008; Kallioniemi et al., 2016; Kearney et al., 2014; LaBrash et al., 2008; Polain et al., 2011; Qualman et al., 2018; Sprung, 2021; Tinc & Sorensen, 2020; Vayro et al., 2020). The production processes of an agricultural business have unique conditions to take into account, such as when analyzing the financial situation. Many production processes are long – you sow in autumn and thresh a year later and the weather determines how good harvests will be, which also affects livestock production on the farm. In order to achieve the desired production level, inputs are required, such as fertilizer and sometimes also chemical pesticides and diesel. The conclusion to be drawn is that it is financially risky and uncertain to be a farmer.

Heo et al. (2020) show that financial stress reduced life satisfaction among farmers in the USA. LaBrasch et al. (2008) examine the relationship between the number of hours of sleep and financial concerns among farmers in Canada. The results show that farmers lost a lot of sleep, especially during work-intensive periods (the dividing line was set to less than six hours of sleep per night). However, it could not be clarified whether financial concerns resulted in sleep deprivation or whether sleep deprivation caused worries about finances to arise.

A study among dairy farmers in Australia shows that farmers there had extremely high levels of poor mental health and that this could be linked, among other things, to the financial basis of farming (Wallis & Dollard, 2008). Poor financial situations were also a stressor among Finnish (Kallioniemi et al., 2016), Canadian (Hagen et al., 2021) and younger American farmers (Rudolphi et al., 2020). Another study from the USA shows that financial concerns affect the health and well-being of farmers (Heo et al., 2020). Farmers feel that local banks and other lenders in the USA are not as willing to provide loans or credit as they previously were (Jones et al., 2018). A study of farmers in North Carolina found that a large percentage of respondents identified the following stressors related to finances: concerns about the future of the farm, problems with machinery, market prices for crops/livestock, taxes, and health care costs (Keraney et al., 2014). Some of the most worrisome stressors, according to an Australian study, were personal finances and the economic conditions of agricultural operations (McShane & Quirk, 2009).

A study of stressors among New Zealand farmers found that one of the events that caused the most stress was if the farm had not made a profit in the past year (Firth et al., 2007). A study from Norway showed that the level of income from agriculture was more strongly associated with financial worries and poor mental health when a large proportion of the total household income was derived from agriculture (Logstein, 2016a).

A qualitative study of farmers in Australia shows that farmers may leave the occupation if it is not financially viable, and the financial stress becomes too great. This is usually a difficult decision as there is enormous pressure from the combined forces of the traditional nature of being a farmer, family expectations and the culture they belong to (Bryant & Garnham, 2018). Although harvests and financial losses may be temporarily buffered by other crops and businesses, other sources of income, crop insurance or other government benefits, these losses can still increase stress to the degree that people choose to leave the

occupation, according to an American study (Waldman et al., 2021). The main obstacles preventing young people becoming farmers, but also the reasons farmers leave the occupation, are difficulties in buying agricultural land, constant income crisis, expensive agricultural machinery, increasingly large market players and a tendency among politicians to be uninterested in the agricultural sector (Qualman et al., 2018).

#### 3.1.3 Climate change and weather conditions

Climate change, which leads to conditions such as droughts and floods, affects farmers. Studies have shown that droughts lead to uncertainty about the future, financial problems, small harvests and increased need for labor input from farmers, as well as worries and anxiety (Austin et al., 2018; Edwards et al., 2015; Fennell et al., 2016; Gunn et al., 2021; Hanigan et al., 2018; Polain et al., 2011, Odabasi & Hartarska, 2021). The effect of prolonged drought on older farmers has been examined in a qualitative study from Australia (Polain et al., 2011). In addition to the everyday stress that comes from farming, and aging which brings about changes or ends of relationships, as well as experiencing new technology as increasingly difficult, researchers found that the creeping threat of climate change affected the elderly farmers to a great extent in such forms as increased psychological strain and accompanying fears of feeling stigmatized (experiencing shame and feeling abnormal). A literature review also showed that external factors, such as weather, were an additional stress factor (Lunner-Kolstrup et al., 2013). A study from Australia in which farmers were interviewed regarding their views on how climate change might affect the agricultural sector showed that the concern was significant for everyone (Ellis & Albrecht, 2017). They worried about the climate and what the weather will be like in the future, which led to their identity as farmers being negatively affected and to increased worries and anxiety among farmers. In summary, this study showed that there was a connection between human health and the well-being of ecosystems, and that this connection was especially apparent for people living in rural areas.

Concerns about climate risks were studied in a quantitative study of North American farmers growing fruit and horticultural products (Han et al. 2022). It was shown that the level of concern was greatly influenced by the farmer's feeling of being prepared and able to deal with climate variations in the form of altered cultivation strategies, choice of suitable crop and possible access to irrigation. They also found that farmers who had recently experienced extreme weather, such as wide variations in temperature and precipitation, tended to feel more concerned about climate-related problems compared to those who had not experienced extreme weather.

Worrying about the weather (Kearney et al., 2014), bad weather (Firth et al., 2007) and weather-related crop damage (Jones et al., 2018) can all affect farmers' mental health. Hossain et al. (2008) identified key areas affecting the mental health of farmers in Queensland and one of the primary factors that contributed to poor mental health was drought. A larger study in Australia on the impact of drought on people living in rural areas showed that drought has

negative effects on mental health and that those most affected were farmers (Edwards et al., 2015). The study showed that the more severe the impact of drought on agriculture, the greater the impact on mental health. Farmers who reported that the drought had led to total crop failure or drastically reduced their farm's productivity had significantly higher rates of mental health problems. Hanigan et al. (2018) showed that there was a relationship between the duration of the drought and the anxiety of younger women on the farm (40-54 years). This association could not be seen in older male and female farmers in Australia. Another study from Australia showed that it is not the drought itself that causes psychological distress, but it rather results indirectly from reduced yields, increased costs and debts, and reduced overall income (Yazd et al., 2019). Austin et al. (2018) showed that farmers in Australia experienced significant stress due to the impact of drought periods on themselves, their families and their local communities. Farmers who were younger, lived and worked on a farm, experienced financial hardship, or lived in isolation were at particular risk for drought-related stress. Fennell et al. (2016) focused on the relationship between drought in Australia and stress and the results showed a relationship between drought, small harvests, difficulties keeping livestock, high workload and stress. An important factor in this context is financial, such as the price levels of input goods and costs incurred when machines break down. It is almost exclusively in Australia that studies have been carried out regarding the impact of drought periods on the mental health of farmers. A study from the USA by Berman et al. (2021), however, confirmed that similar problems exist there, with their results showing an association between drought and increased work-related stress among farmers.

Odabasi and Hartarska (2021) noted that changes in climate affected suicide rates among farmers in the United States. An Australian study found that climate change has exacerbated farmers' anxiety about the weather, undermined their self-identity, contributed to chronic anxiety and increased the experienced risk of depression and suicide (Ellis & Albrecht, 2017). A study on the relationship between drought periods and suicide among agricultural farmers in Australia showed that the risk of suicide among men increased with worsening drought (Hanigan et al., 2012).

#### 3.1.4 Crime

A growing problem in the agricultural sector in England is that farmers are subjected to crime. In step with the increasingly common use of expensive technical aids, such as GPS equipment, machinery and vehicles, so too does crime become more common on farms (Smith, 2020). The same study also showed that crime involving the farm contributes to psychological stress for the farmer. The researcher views this development with concern and warns that if it continues, the risk increases that those affected will either give up farming, or in the worst case scenario, take their own lives as a direct result of the impact that agriculture-related crime has on an already stressed and pressured occupational group.

#### 3.1.5 Globalization, laws and regulations

Several Australian articles by Bryant and Garnham (2013, 2014, 2015) argued that the state and its agricultural policies limit the autonomy and ability of farmers to continue running their farms. Furthermore, they believed that pride, self-worth and economic viability are threatened by the withdrawal of subsidies and support.

Farmers are bombarded by stressors that are beyond their control, such as unstable markets, changing government regulations, shrinking labor supply, increasing production costs, changing international politics and changing markets (Jones et al., 2020). In a study among dairy farmers in Finland, it was highlighted that the most common stress factors were external, such as the EU's agricultural policy. A study of dairy farmers in Australia (Wallis & Dollard, 2008) showed that these farmers had extremely elevated levels of mental illness, which could be linked to issues such as globalization, with its transition from national regulation to a pure market economy. Farmers who once experienced independence must now devote a great deal of time to administration and documenting their cultivation and animal husbandry to demonstrate accountability to various authorities, according to a study from the USA (Jones et al., 2018). Hossain et al. (2008) identified key areas affecting mental health among farmers in Queensland by conducting a series of focus groups with farmers, organizations with ties to the agricultural sector and medical professionals. The results showed that the increasing burden of laws and regulations contributed to worsening the mental health of farmers.

#### 3.1.6 Masculine norms and gender differences

A study from southwest England, in which interviews were conducted with male farmers who had suicidal thoughts or had attempted suicide, revealed a complex picture of the participants' masculinity and the expectations they felt of themselves as farmers, which contributed to their sense of personal failure and fueled their decision to consider suicide. The results indicated that farmers' decisions to take their own lives are influenced by complex social and personal factors and point to an important aspect of failed masculinity (Woollacott, 2020). In interviews with mostly male Australian farmers, it emerged that the masculine identity of farmers, which was characterized by pride, was about to change and be replaced by an identity characterized more by shame and that this identity shift was important in understanding how suicide will be seen as a possible way out for farmers. For example, when the viability of the farm was threatened and under financial pressure, farmers experienced shame, that they had a bad reputation, and that their masculine identity was threatened, which caused poor mental health and sometimes led to suicide (Bryant & Garnham, 2015).

Female farmers in Canada feel more stressed than males (Hagen et al., 2021). The female farmers in that study described how they still felt like women in a man's world, which meant they had to work harder to prove they could manage the job, which led to increased stress. They also felt undervalued in the network of farmers they were a part of as constant comparisons were made between the farmers' businesses, creating a feeling of being constantly monitored and judged by other farmers. Female farmers also felt stressed by having, in addition to being a farmer, other roles such as mother, wife and the one responsible for maintaining the home, and they needed to balance the demands of all their roles (Hagen et al., 2021).

#### 3.1.7 Loneliness, isolation and a lack of support

Farmers belong to various social and occupational networks that they feel make demands on them. Many were aware that their network or community judges their decisions and that this can have social consequences (Hagen et al., 2021; Judd et al., 2006). They also experienced expectations of not appearing weak (Hagen et al., 2021). Among the networks of farmers, there was a clear understanding of what it means to be a good farmer, which can lead to feelings of pride and joy, but if they or others were perceived as being bad farmers, this could lead to stress, according to studies from Australia (Bryant & Garnham, 2018). According to another study from Australia, farmers felt that the communities to which they belonged could be quite closed, having difficulty allowing outsiders in and being difficult to leave (Judd et al., 2006).

The family is part of the farmer's network. In the past, there were often several generations living close to each other involved in farming, but it has become more common to work alone in Western Europe and for the partner, usually the woman, to work outside the farm, which has also contributed to feelings of isolation (Shortall, 2014). Working together with family can also increase stress when farmers had no outlet other than their own family members, according to a study from Canada (Hagen et al., 2021). Farmers who were not satisfied with the support they received from family felt more stressed than those who felt satisfied with their support, and stress increased when it was not obvious who would take over the farm (Kallioniemi et al., 2008; Kearney et al., 2014; Onwuameze et al., 2013; Peel et al., 2016; Sprung, 2021).

According to an international research overview, there have been structural changes to the countryside and in agriculture which have meant that there are now fewer farmers and more non-farmers, while natural gathering places and opportunities for support in everyday life have disappeared; this has contributed to an increase in the level of stress among the remaining farmers (Stark & Falkowski, 2019). Long working days have also resulted in farmers lacking the time and energy for social contact in Australia (Hossain et al., 2008). According to an Irish qualitative study, isolation, with increasingly fewer social contacts, was a major problem especially for farmers who were single or elderly and therefore more vulnerable. This could lead to having no one to talk to or get relief from when it came to problems, which in turn could make them blame themselves and feel bad. This was due, among other things, to a lack of natural gathering places (Hammersley, 2021). The lack of services such as police, fire department and primary care was emphasized: having to travel long distances for services such as seeing a doctor reinforced feelings of isolation and lack of support. Being geographically isolated and far from health care and emergency services led to a sense of anxiety and

vulnerability (Hammersley, 2021). Feelings of isolation were also not lessened if the farm had poor mobile coverage or inadequate access to the Internet. However, a study from Australia by McPhedran and De Leo (2013) found that despite the differences in demographic and socio-economic circumstances between farmers and other men in rural areas, farmers were not necessarily more socially isolated than other rural men.

A study in Australia used focus groups for discussions with farmers about suicide (Perceval et al., 2017). They found a combination of individual factors (identity, isolation, loneliness and withdrawal) and social and environmental stressors (relationships and rural structure) were most likely to increase the risk of suicide. In another study, Australian farmers believed the combination of geographic and emotional isolation to be a potential risk factor for suicide (Perceval et al., 2019).

Age, being separated or divorced (Firth et al., 2007), and dissatisfaction with perceived support from family and the industry (Hagen et al., 2021) contributed to poorer mental health in farmers. Loneliness (Kallioniemi et al., 2016) and increased isolation (Hossain et al., 2008) also negatively affected mental health. Single farmers in France who had inherited their farm tended to suffer more from anxiety and worry (Magnin et al., 2017). A Finnish study found that one in three farmers had symptoms of stress and that problems with social relationships in the family, lack of mental support and help from a partner, divorce, and lack of mental support from neighbors and other people were most clearly linked to stress (Kallioniemi, 2008). A Japanese study showed that older farmers (>65 years) who farm in an area with few farming neighbors exhibited depressive symptoms more often than those who have close neighbors. Furthermore, the study showed that symptoms of depression were more common in those who lived alone. This can be interpreted as the lack of formal and informal support affecting the occurrence of symptoms of depression (Kanamori et al., 2021). A study from Australia found that living in a remote area is a greater risk factor for farmers' mental health and wellbeing when compared to financial stress, common problems such as weather dependence and labor availability, as well as recent adverse events such as machines breaking down or someone falling ill (Brew et al., 2016). A registerbased quantitative study of reasons why farmers in 110 different regions of Western Europe left the occupation found that farmers left the occupation to a greater extent in regions with small farms and a higher proportion of livestock production, as well as regions where the proportion of older farmers (>44 years) and the proportion family members working on the farm were lower (Breustedt & Glauben, 2007), which can also be interpreted as a lack of support.

#### 3.1.8 Additional risk factors

A study among younger farmers in the United States showed that *being an employer* was one of the primary sources of stress (Rudolphi et al., 2020), and a study from New Zealand showed that *administration involving employees* and *work-environment legislation* caused a lot of stress among farmers (Firth et al., 2007). *Supervising staff* was also linked to higher stress levels. The risk of occupational injury is a stress factor, and if the farmer suffers an accident, this can also result in significant psychological strain, according to a study from Victoria, Australia (Murray et al., 2019).

Onwuameze et al. (2013) found that *exposure to pesticides*, stress, and personal injury were independent risk factors for depression among farmers in the USA. A North American cross-sectional study focused on studying whether there is a relationship between recurrent chemical pesticide poisoning and depression and the display of risky behavior (Beseler & Stallones, 2006). In that study, no correlation could be found between farmers being poisoned and developing depression, but an inverse correlation could be confirmed. Another stressor for farmers in Australia was *natural gas extraction near farms* (Morgan et al., 2016).

A Norwegian study by Zahl-Thanem et al. (2020) of farmers' experiences of *living near predators* noted that predator attacks on livestock are only part of the problem. Financial compensation paid to farmers for accepting predators and as compensation for livestock losses did not appear to alleviate poor mental health among farmers. Their perceived mental ill-health in the form of frustration, anger, anxiety, lack of sleep and reduced quality of life was a clear function of living near predator areas and could not be linked to financial loss. Rather, their mental health issues were caused by other factors, such as the demands of changing one's lifestyle, the work situation, the sense of responsibility and concern for livestock, an emotional attachment to livestock, constant reminders of predators from various predator warning systems, the inability to express their opinions for fear of being attacked on social media and other types of harassment, as well as an overall distrust of the predator management system.

A study in Sweden concluded that *advanced technology and automated systems* in agriculture had both positive and negative aspects (Lunner-Kolstrup et al., 2018). The farmers who were interviewed did not experience any significant mental strain resulting from the technology, except in the event of operational disruptions, but considered the technology to be a necessity for their future work.

Outsiders who *do not understand farming conditions* (Kearney et al., 2014), a perceived *conflict between town and country* (Hossain et al., 2008), as well as *the treatment of farmers in society and the media* were other stressors among farmers. Several studies showed that differences in socio-economic and demographic factors were significant to the suicide rate among farmers (Odabasi & Hartarska, 2021). A literature review concerning poor mental health and suicide among farmers showed that suicide attempts were primarily related to socioeconomic factors (Santos et al., 2021). A study from the USA found a significantly increased risk of suicide among elderly (>65) male farmers (Browning et al., 2008). Two qualitative studies from Australia revealed that external factors such as the *actions of the government* and the companies that handle the farmers' products, as well as *laws and regulations* and *business deals* could restrict farmers so that they felt they had no possibility of continuing and that they could then go as far as to take their own lives (Bryant & Garnham, 2013; 2014).

#### 3.2 Poor mental health among farmers

Mental health problems are generally higher among farmers, especially among older farmers, than other occupational groups. Depression and suicide attempts occur more often among farmers than other occupational groups, and poor mental health among farmers has been on the rise in recent years.

The studies presented above show that the combination of many different health and safety risks in the psychosocial work environment of farmers is related to poor mental health among farmers. But what does poor mental health among farmers look like when compared to other occupational groups? Research from England and Finland suggests that the mental health of farmers and their partners was significantly worse than that of the general population (Hounsome et al., 2012; Kallioniemi et al., 2016). A study conducted by Torske et al. (2015), comparing farmers in Norway with their siblings and people in other occupations, also found that farmers were more often affected by depression and anxiety than those in other occupational groups or their siblings who did not work as farmers. This suggests that work in agriculture can affect mental health. In another study, Torske et al. (2016) found that the prevalence of symptoms of depression was higher in both male and female farmers compared to the general working population, while no difference emerged regarding anxiety. The differences between farmers and the general working population in the prevalence of depressive symptoms increased with age. There was no difference in depressive symptoms between younger farmers (<39 years) and younger people in other occupations. In contrast, older farmers (50 years and older) had more symptoms of depression than both younger farmers and older people in other occupations, according to a study from Greece (Demos et al., 2013). Above all, older farmers in Australia were those who felt stressed by new technology that was necessary in agriculture and which contributed to further work being added to an already perceived high workload (Perceval et al., 2019). A quantitative study from Australia showed that those in other occupational categories experienced more stress when there was little social support compared to farmers who were not as affected (Stain et al., 2008). A Finnish study comparing farmers, entrepreneurs with and without employees, and employees showed that farmers had the worst work ability, health and quality of life even when age, sex, marital status, education and presence of chronic diseases were taken into account (Saarni et al., 2008). Farmers in Norway had twice as high a risk of

being placed on disability pension as other occupational groups with high education. On the other hand, the risk of disability pension among farmers was lower than for other groups with physically demanding occupations, as farmers can work longer with physical health problems than those in other occupational groups before receiving a disability pension. However, the risk of disability pension among male farmers was higher than for female farmers (Torske et al., 2015).

Farmers in the USA had increased rates of depression, anxiety, and suicide risk (Bjornestad et al., 2021), and suicide was a significant cause of death among farmers in Australia (McLaren & Challis, 2009). In Australia, one male farmer died by suicide every four days, a rate significantly higher than that of nonfarmers and the general male population. This mortality rate from suicide was only slightly lower than the mortality rate of agricultural occupational accidents and represents a significant public health problem (Judd et al., 2006). Vavro et al. (2021) found that the suicide rate among farmers was approximately twice that of the general Australian population. Another study from Australia compared suicide among farmers with other incidents of suicide in rural areas (Kennedy et al., 2020). They found that in agriculturerelated suicide deaths, it was more common to have a source of livelihood (business/employment) at the time of death and to have died by the use of a firearm. Furthermore, it was shown to be less common in agriculture-related suicides to have had a diagnosed mental illness or to have received some form of mental health support before death. Male farmers in Switzerland also had a higher risk of dving by suicide than men with other jobs (Steck et al., 2020). A study from New Zealand maintained that the risk factors of suicide in agriculture were not very different from the risk factors of suicide in the general population of the country (Beautrais, 2018). However, one risk factor for suicide among farmers highlighted in this study was that farmers have access to firearms: almost 40% of suicides carried out by farmers involved firearms, compared to 8% in the general population during the same period (Beautrais, 2018). A study of suicides among farmers in Scotland found that firearms were significantly more often involved in suicides and undetermined deaths among farmers than among the rest of the male population (Stark et al., 2006). Another study suggested that Australian farmers usually have firearms and are used to using them, such as when they need to shoot predators or kill suffering livestock, and both the availability and habit of using firearms resulted in firearms being used often in suicide (Perceval et al., 2019). Elderly farmers in the USA who completed suicide were also significantly more likely than others to have reported physical health problems (Bower & Gerst Emerson, 2021). There is accordingly much to indicate that working as a farmer is associated with greater risks of poor mental health than for the population in general and that this is exhibited in particular ways. Researchers in Australia point out that the strain on farmers' mental health has increased in recent years (Hogan et al., 2012).

## 3.3 Health factors in farmers' psychosocial work environment

Health factors in the psychosocial work environment of farmers are not as well studied as risk factors. Among other aspects, we have identified the following health factors in the research: a connection between the farmer and the cultivated land, environmental and social responsibility, the ability to carry out the work, to be outside, to work physically, to eat well, a good working and living environment, to work with animals, a reasonable workload, selfmotivation, social support and a sense of belonging, an income that does not come from working on the farm and the ability to work after retirement age.

The connection between a farmer and the cultivated land, as well as taking both environmental and social responsibility were health factors that positively affected life as a farmer according to a study from the USA (Brigance et al., 2018). According to American farmers, the *ability to carry out the work* was a health factor that was a prerequisite for the agricultural enterprise to flourish (Bondy & Cole, 2020). In another qualitative study from Australia, the farmers also perceived the ability to perform the work on the farm as a health factor. Being a farmer is to live a different kind of life by *being outside, doing physical work and eating well* and that, farmers believed, was a health factor (Bondy & Cole, 2020).

Health factors for dairy farmers in Finland were *family, working with cattle, healthy animals, a reasonable workload* and *sustainable finances* (Kallioniemi et al., 2018). Another study by the same authors highlighted factors that protected farmers from burnout, including a *positive working and living environment* where people lived and worked close to nature and had great freedom and variety in their work (Kallioniemi, et al., 2016). Muri et al. (2020) studied Norwegian sheep farmers and found that their motivation for working as farmers was of the utmost importance to their job satisfaction. A study of older female farmers in selected states in the USA showed that their involvement in agricultural work increased life satisfaction and reduced the risk of depression (Witt et al., 2020). Furthermore, the results showed that *working on the farm*, as well as the culture of family farming, where the family lives, and living and working together on a farm, affected the general wellbeing of female farmers.

*Participating in social activities* positively affected life as a farmer according to a study from the USA (Brigance et al., 2018). A study of Australian farmers showed that *increased social support* and an *increased sense of belonging* reduced the risk of suicide (McLaren & Challis, 2009). An American study of farmers showed that there was a negative relationship between *support from friends and family* and depression: the better the support, the lower the degree of depression (Bjornestad et al., 2019). A study on burnout among farmers in Canada demonstrated the positive effect of *support from partners, friends and colleagues* (Jones-Bitton et al., 2019). Having close friends and participating in various groups outside the farm positively affects the mental health of farmers, as demonstrated in several studies (Logstein, 2016b; Rawolle et al., 2016; Stain et al., 2008; Tinc & Sorensen, 2020). In addition to friends and family members, having social contact with representatives of society – such as civil servants and politicians – play an important role (Hagen et al., 2021; Stain et al., 2008). In a study of male farmers who were employed full-time in Norway, Logstein et al. (2016b) found that good *social relationships* and *reasonable work demands* were associated with good mental health.

Farmers saw themselves as part of a larger community in which they exchanged knowledge and services with each other (Brigance et al., 2018), received support in various situations (Judd et al., 2006), and also when they had health problems (Bondy & Cole, 2020; Hammersley, 2021; Rawolle et al., 2016). In general, farmers in Australia found it easier to bring up practical problems than health problems, especially mental health issues (Judd et al., 2006). They used their own networks to talk about problems by focusing on problem solving, rather than on feelings about the problems. On the other hand, many farmers thought that their veterinarian was also a good person to talk to about their own health problems, as veterinarians have medical knowledge (Judd et al., 2006). The participants in another study from Australia also described how their health was positively affected by community activities and social support from friends and families (Rawolle et al., 2016). The family is part of a farmer's network and was highlighted as an important factor when it comes to social relations (Kallioniemi et al., 2008; Kearney et al., 2014; Onwuameze et al., 2013; Peel et al., 2016; Sprung, 2021). Family members could be discussion partners, pitch in with work on the farm, counteract feelings of loneliness and vulnerability, and make it possible to disconnect from agricultural operations and relax according to Canadian studies (Hagen et al., 2021). Another health factor was when the family had an income that came from work outside the farm according to Norwegian studies (Logstein et al., 2016a). Farmers in Sweden also continue to work after retirement age to a much greater extent than the rest of the population, which can be seen as a health factor (Thelin & Holmberg, 2010).

## 3.4 How farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health can be promoted

#### 3.4.1 Farmers' strategies for promoting their own good health

One important consideration is how farmers themselves handle the stress they face in their working lives. The mental capability to cope with this is usually called *resilience*, which refers to the ability to withstand and recover from stress. A study in Canada showed that, on average, farmers showed poorer resilience than the general population (Jones-Bitton et al., 2020). Many of the stressors that farmers face are difficult or impossible to eliminate, but the farmers with high resilience felt less stressed than those with low resilience. Farmers reported that support from family, nature and animals helped build up their resilience. The fact that working on the farm felt meaningful, as well as setting limits to their work commitment and relaxing or doing

other activities, also contributed to strengthening their resilience according to another study from Canada (Hagen et al., 2021). A literature study on farmers' mental health found that resilience was the most important health factor for farmers (Hagen et al., 2019). Resilience is something that can be learned, according to researchers from Australia, and doing so can be helpful for farmers (Greenhill et al., 2009).

The results of assorted studies also show that farmers use different personal strategies to manage the stress they are exposed to, which is usually referred to as *coping*, and different coping strategies can also contribute to building up farmers' resilience (Hagen et al., 2021). This can include planning (constructive solutions), positive reappraisal (change of attitude towards stressful events), humor and leisure (Garnefski et al., 2005; Greig et al., 2020), getting perspective on events and getting help and support from others (Greig et al., 2020; Roy et al., 2014). Furthermore, acceptance can be used as a coping strategy (Greig et al., 2020; Gunn et al., 2021). Other possibilities include work-related coping strategies, such as coping with active problem-solving and constructive thinking, social coping strategies, such as leisure activities and social support, as well as taking care of one's own health by taking proper breaks at work and sleeping well, according to researchers from New Zealand (Kuriger, 2016). Coping strategies that are more negative include avoidance (ignoring), as well as blaming oneself or others (Greig et al., 2020). This can also involve suppressing emotions, avoiding problems or consuming alcohol (Kuriger, 2016). Risky alcohol consumption patterns were found more often among farmers than non-farmers. Identified risk factors for risky alcohol consumption were: male sex, lower socio-economic status and psychological problems, for example depression, according to a literature review (Watanabe-Galloway et al., 2021).

Another strategy farmers use to promote their own health is to try to achieve a *work-life balance*. This can be about taking breaks (Roy et al., 2017), and recovering in other ways (Bondy & Cole, 2020). But it can also, according to researchers from Australia, be about being more than a farmer (involved in hobbies and sports and valuing other social roles, such as being active in the local community and being a parent), having opportunities put work aside (getting away from the farm and having time for children, family, friends and the local community) and taking care of oneself (exercise, personal time, and time with friends) (Greenhill et al., 2009). Studies from Australia showed that male and female farmers coped with stress differently. Men could work on and try to find solutions rather than becoming mired in negative thoughts and feelings. Female farmers could instead feel inadequate, sad, isolated and lonely (Judd et al., 2006).

#### 3.4.2 The role of healthcare in promoting farmers' health

One difficulty facing healthcare in promoting the health of farmers is that farmers take on physical and mental health challenges in the same way they take on the challenges of their farm. Many farmers see their health as they would a machine: it only needs to be fixed if it does not work, much like a tractor that breaks down and needs to be fixed (Rawolle et al., 2016). According to some studies from Australia, farmers do not want to admit when they are unwell and there is also a sort of prevailing idea that farmers should manage everything themselves (Bondy & Cole, 2020; Vayro et al., 2020). Farmers in Australia usually do not have someone to take over if they become ill or injured and do not consider it possible to take time off to care for their health (Judd et al., 2006). They therefore wait to seek support until they can no longer work, or the end of close relationships leave them no other option but to ask for external help (McKenzie et al., 2016). Another difficulty concerning healthcare is that farmers rarely seek healthcare for poor mental health, not least because of a lack of infrastructure (Roy et al., 2013). Vayro et al. (2020) and Anderson et al. (2021) highlighted the reluctance of farmers to seek support and talk about the stressors and difficulties they encountered in their daily lives, despite the relatively high rate of reported suicide. According to several studies, the fact that farmers seem to be less likely to seek out and use resources and services for mental illness is due to a lack of regional resources and occupationspecific knowledge of the target group. Motivation to seek help was also influenced by access, accessibility and the possibility of receiving support from the same person over time (Vayro et al., 2020; 2021).

Both Sartore et al. (2008) and Kavalidou et al. (2015) emphasize the importance of trained healthcare personnel with an understanding of the particular problems in agriculture. This can be an effective strategy to improve care systems and pathways to early intervention in rural areas, as well as providing relevant support for poor mental health. Similarly, in their study of German farmers, Stier-Jarmer et al. (2020) saw that they were in need of specifically tailored healthcare services with a bottom-up perspective, a grounded understanding of all of the specific conditions and challenges that apply to their work. It was therefore important to have intervention efforts that are adapted to farmers in order to reflect the context of the lives of individual farmers to the greatest possible degree (Kennedy et al., 2021). The results of an Australian study showed the importance of close contact between farmer and caregiver, in which farmers want their support person to understand life as a farmer (Sartore et al., 2007).

Farmers expressed trust in their family doctors but often resorted to alternative medicine or alternative treatment when they considered their illness to be benign, according to a French study (Magnin et al., 2017). General practitioners, specifically in rural Australia, were important in detecting suicide risk among farm workers (Kavalidou et al., 2015). Sartore et al. (2007) also suggested that Australian GPs should identify and respond to poor mental health in farmers, especially those affected by climate change, such as severe drought. Fennell et al. (2016) found that designing mental health strategies for drought-affected farmers in Australia is a major challenge. It is necessary to find the delicate balance between, on the one hand, raising their awareness of high levels of anxiety and encouraging them to take action themselves or seek help and, on the other hand, creating unnecessary worry and stress. Local networks and collaboration within healthcare were found to be important to minimizing the risk of suicide among farmers (Fuller et al., 2009; Sartore et

al., 2008). Caregiver support influenced suicide rates among farm workers in the USA (Odabasi & Hartarska, 2021). Physical activity for the prevention of anxiety in Australian farmers has also been evaluated and the results showed that increased physical activity led to a generally better state of health and improved mental health, which health and medical services should take into account in their preventive work (Brumby et al., 2011; 2013).

#### 3.4.3 Additional ways of promoting farmers' health

*Information:* farmers had the greatest trust in and were thus most receptive to information about mental health from doctors, but also from their spouses/ family members and friends. Among other information channels, farmers were interested in receiving information about mental health from agricultural magazines and via personal information, according to a study from the USA (Rudolphi et al., 2019). On the other hand, Elkind (2007) claimed in a literature review that support given to farmers solely through information strategies is not enough, but that farmers also need support in developing good coping strategies.

Support, education and mentoring programs: the agricultural movement can contribute to social support, education and mentoring programs for farmers with stress and symptoms of depression, and an evaluation showed that such interventions reduced symptoms (Liang et al., 2021). According to Perceval et al. (2017), future suicide prevention efforts for farmers in Australia should take place through education, training programs and national campaigns. Telephone coaching services proved to be an effective method for German farmers when it came to stress-related preventive measures (Stier-Jarmer et al. 2020). Web-based interventions are not only facilitative during a pandemic, but also when working with limited resources or geographic constraints, as is common in Australia (Kennedy et al., 2021). In the USA, they have developed an Internet-based health program, "Agriculture for Life," with the aim of supporting farmers and families with disabilities, chronic health conditions and aging, that is based on discussions with affected groups and previous research. The program has been developed with the aim of contributing to the well-being of the target group. The focus is on seven aspects: physical, occupational, social, emotional, environmental, spiritual and intellectual well-being. However, the program has not been evaluated (Wilhite et al., 2020). Schweitzer et al. (2011) surveyed the resources available in the USA to support farmers with physical or mental disabilities and their families; the mapping showed that there are, for example, psychiatric clinics, patient organizations, support groups, treatment centers and brochures or websites with information. Knowledge of what support is available has also been disseminated to help raise awareness of the effects of poor mental and physical health on farmers with disabilities and their families and to potentially reduce the stigma associated with these health issues. The intention of the mapping was also to improve the support for these groups in the long term, that is, to develop routines for how referrals are written and to whom. A qualitative study on male farmers in Canada was conducted with a focus on stress and coping strategies (Roy et al., 2014). Many participants had previous positive

experiences of receiving help from the healthcare system and would be willing to use such help again as well as recommend it to others with poor mental health.

In an Australian study, agricultural advisers were trained in mental health first aid. The aim was to give them the knowledge and tools to talk about psychological problems with their agricultural customers (Hossain et al., 2010). The training of volunteers in mental health first aid, which enabled them to provide advice and support to farmers experiencing poor mental health, was evaluated and found to be an effective early intervention strategy for farmers in Australia (Sartore et al., 2008). Roy et al. (2013; 2014) emphasized that future educational efforts in Australia should have a gender perspective as they had identified that male farmers have a higher suicide rate than female farmers. According to studies in Switzerland, it was also important to identify difficulties and problems for male farmers at an early stage, and to offer support that would appeal to them by being adapted to their needs and preferences, to prevent suicide (Steck et al., 2020). Cuthbertson et al. (2021) highlighted that more traditional educational programs for farmers in the USA could be beneficially expanded to also include mental health. Strengthening knowledge about mental health, including the warning signs of stress and suicide risk, can help farmers practice their communication skills and enable them to seek help when needed. Education related to stress, depression and psychological difficulties as a result of prolonged drought and the changing economic and social environment is not only deemed to be important for farmers, but also for those in the agricultural sector who give advice in such fields as animal production, crop cultivation and finances, according to studies from Australia (Hossain et al., 2010). American advisors working in farm-related services underwent a Farm Stress Training Program, a web-based program with the purpose of increasing understanding of poor mental health in farmers (Cuthbertson et al., 2020). The program consisted of four modules focused on role-playing and discussion of realistic scenarios involving vulnerable farmers and their families. Participants were taught to identify signs and symptoms of stress, identify warning signs of suicide, and to plan what to do in the event of an emergency in which a farmer shows signs of poor mental health.

A Future Search action-planning workshop was held with dairy producers in New York state in the USA to discuss the challenges that exist for mental health on dairy farms (Tinc & Sorensen, 2019). The participants consisted of dairy farmers, healthcare professionals, government authorities, agricultural organizations and dairy companies. Together, the group took part in various activities that dealt with the past, present and future. Workshop participants collaboratively developed goals and action steps to take to effect change in a variety of areas, such as peer support and social networks, environment, healthcare, business planning, regulations, milk pricing, marketing and consumer education, as well as education, research, technology and labor.

### **4** Discussion

The majority of the studies included in this systematic literature review are from Australia and North America and come to a lesser extent from various parts of Europe. Some have been carried out in Norway and Finland, while there have been essentially no Swedish studies published internationally in the current time period. However, valuable research from different parts of the world provides an important knowledge base for handling the psychosocial challenges that farmers in Sweden face in their working environment and which need to be taken into account by the relevant organizations, government authorities, researchers and politicians, which is discussed in the following.

The psychosocial work environment of farmers is affected by a wide range of external factors that farmers have limited opportunities to influence. Farmers in different countries find it stressful that they have little opportunity to influence increased globalization and its impact on market prices for their products and increased production costs, not least for various inputs such as fuel, electricity, nitrogen fertilizer and feed. Climate change, with droughts, floods and unpredictable weather, has become an ever-increasing risk factor as a source of stress experienced by farmers in large parts of the world. Sweden was also affected by a severe drought in 2018. Requirements from government authorities for increased documentation, bureaucracy, controls, regulations, fees and reporting are perceived as burdensome and difficult to handle by many farmers, as confirmed in Swedish studies (Bergström Nilsson et al., 2020). Other factors that have been reported as being difficult for farmers to handle, not least in Sweden, are negative attitudes in society, in the media and social media, as well as increased vulnerability and crime in the countryside (Ceccato et al., 2021; Lundqvist et al., 2022). Another problem that causes concern, stress and expenses is the increased presence of predators and wild boar in the Nordic countries and other areas of Europe.

Farmers' businesses are often closely linked to other companies in the food supply chain in terms of inputs, production and processing, but also to banks and other financial institutions that can be seen as part of their psychosocial work environment. The farmer can also be involved in agricultural cooperative movements and work collaboratively with the agricultural policy-related administrative agencies. These networks and relationships can, through various types of institutions and participants, and in forms of consultation and marketing, contribute to the development of companies, to learning and to a better psychosocial work environment, but they can also lessen the sense of freedom and lead to a decrease in self-empowerment (Rose et al., 2018).

Even the psychosocial work environment requirements that farmers have increased opportunities to influence can be risk factors as they can exert immense pressure in the form of heavy workloads, especially during intensive periods. Swedish studies confirm that these risk factors can lead to a risky work environment and jobs that carry a risk of personal injury and ill health, as well as difficulty in finding competent personnel and the possibility of relief at work (Lunner-Kolstrup & Lundqvist, 2013; Pinzke, 2018). Farmers may also feel the personal responsibility to be successful in their occupation, to be good employers, not to fail, to carry on the tradition if the farm has been in the family for several generations, and for male farmers, to live up to masculine standards, or as a female farmer, to suffer of the consequences of masculine norms, not having time for family or opportunities to participate in social contexts. Farms can be geographically isolated, which can contribute to feelings of loneliness. As farmers age, various health problems may also arise. Problems in relationships, divorce, as well as a lack of understanding and support from family and colleagues can be additional risk factors for a stressed farmer. All of these aspects are just as relevant in Sweden as in they are in the other countries relevant to the systematic literature review. A doctoral thesis by Nordström Källström (2008) confirmed that loneliness and the deterioration of social services in rural Sweden negatively affects farmers' quality of life. These factors can contribute to leaving the farm and the occupation prematurely, and other factors that can influence farmers in that regard are financial problems or a lack of faith that their agricultural business has a future (Hajdu et al., 2020).

When combined with a heavy workload, external factors that are difficult to influence can lead to various forms and degrees of mental health issues, ranging from anxiety and stress-related symptoms to more severe anxiety, depression and, at worst, suicidal thoughts, attempted suicides or completed suicides. Studies related to suicide have mainly been carried out in Australia and North America, the majority of which pointed out that farmers were overrepresented in relation to suicide when compared to other population and occupational groups. No similar studies have been published concerning Swedish farmers, but over the years there have been signals indicating that there may be similar problems here (Public Health Agency of Sweden, 2020).

Several studies in this systematic literature review have highlighted that male farmers especially lack the ability to talk about their feelings and mental health issues and are reluctant to seek help. Instead, they employ a variety of positive or negative coping strategies to deal with the stress they are exposed to. This can include planning (constructive solutions), positive reevaluation, or acceptance. This may also involve work-related coping strategies, such as coping with active problem-solving and constructive thinking, or social coping strategies, such as leisure activities and social support, as well as taking care of one's own health by taking proper breaks at work and sleeping well. But this may also involve negative reactions such as avoidance (ignoring), as well as blaming oneself or others, suppressing emotions or consuming alcohol.

Farmers who are better able to withstand stress and who are doing well (resilience) see many healthy factors in their situation. These include the farming lifestyle, living close to animals and nature, having self-determination (autonomy), but also exercise, hobbies, sports and other social roles, as well as spending time away from the farm and having time for children, family, friends and involvement in the local community. These are factors that are important for a sustainable working life and social sustainability, something that is being discussed more and more by the LRF and other Swedish stakeholders, but in the literature reviewed, these sustainability concepts are essentially missing.

Farmers who cannot cope with pressure, stress and setbacks on their own need support and help. Several studies demonstrate the usefulness of various support measures in the form of training and information efforts, and telephone advice and support, but it has become clear that for farmers to make use of the various support measures, it is important that those who deliver them are credible people farmers can trust. In Sweden, a large proportion of farmers are members of various interest organizations, in which they have great confidence (Lundqvist et al. 2022), and the LRF also offers special support through regional care groups for those who experience anxiety and other mental health issues (https://www.lrf.se/mittlrf/regioner/skane/ bondekompis/). In cases where care is sought, it is important for staff to have an understanding of the specific conditions of agriculture. Support and assistance to farmers in various forms has been highlighted as an important area of development, which aligns with the increasing necessities within this sector, including from a Swedish perspective.

The aspects of psychosocial work environments addressed in this systematic literature review also align well with the review of the work environment in agriculture carried out by the European Agency for Health and Safety at Work (EU-OSHA) (Jones et al., 2020). Their report covers how new technology, climate change and other developments can affect farming in the future, what technical and organizational changes those developments can bring and how this may affect the working environment for farmers and others who work in the sector. Some of the biggest challenges from a health and safety perspective concern: (a) new technology and the digitization of agriculture (opportunities for improved work environments, but also risk of increased stress); (b) the significance of climate change (increased risks of storms, droughts, floods and their consequences); and (c) effects of the development of the labor market (persistent majority of self-employed farmers who are not covered by work environment legislation and are not inspected in the same way as companies with employees). The report also points out that farmers in Europe are at risk of continuing to be exposed to stress and psychosocial risks as a result of: financial pressure; increasing requirements regarding rules and administration; increasing demands from consumers and society on food production; increased negative criticism of agriculture and reduced appeal; the emergence of new public health problems and diseases in animals and plants; threats and violence from militant environmentalists and animal rights activists; as well as crime in rural areas.

In conclusion, it can be stated that this systematic literature review shows that rural farmers in comparable countries in other parts of the world face similar problems and challenges in terms of their psychosocial work environment and mental health. It can also be stated that there is quite a lot of knowledge about the problems in general, but that the focus has been to a lesser extent on preventive measures and on how different stakeholders can take action to support farmers. Furthermore, it has become apparent that there has been a lack of Swedish studies, but there is also a lack of international cooperation regarding these specific issues.

### 5 Gaps in knowledge and further necessary research

This systematic literature review shows that many valuable studies have been conducted that describe farmers' psychosocial work environment and mental health from different perspectives and in different contexts.

The greatest gap in knowledge is undoubtedly that there is a lack of in-depth knowledge of how the aspects touched on in this review apply to Swedish farmers in the 2020s, not the least of which is how they are affected by various stressors and how these can be handled individually or with external support.

It would be relevant to carry out studies that include farmers of all ages, in different fields of activity, and in all areas of Sweden. There has been a lack of studies that take a comprehensive approach to the psychosocial work environment of farmers in which – with the help of, for example, the demand-control-support model (Karasek, 1979; Karasek & Theorell, 1992) – the conditions in the psychosocial work environment and the possibilities for supporting Swedish farmers are taken into account. Increased knowledge of the problems and challenges faced by farmers in Sweden, as well as which health factors and opportunities they experience, would also be important to increase understanding and appropriately support and develop this important occupation into a sustainable working life. The psychosocial work environment, mental health and other aspects of a sustainable working life for farmers need to be given greater space in continued sustainability work, which should not be limited to environmental and financial aspects.

The studies included in this systematic literature review have often focused on male farmers, whereas there have been significantly fewer studies on female farmers. There have been no studies of men and women's behavior when actively running the family businesses together or any intergenerational studies, which can also be common. There is also largely a lack of information concerning how minority groups, such as farmers of different ethnic backgrounds or sexual orientation, view the role of a farmer.

Changes in the countryside, with increasingly fewer farmers, reduced community services and a rise in crime, and the accompanying consequences for farmers in the forms of anxiety, fear and loneliness, may need to be studied further in a Swedish context.

Studies and evaluations of various forms of support and interventions to support farmers' mental health are needed on a larger scale. The literature study has shown that there have been measures such as support calls conducted individually and in groups, telephone counseling, training of resource personnel and development of self-help materials, but few of these initiatives have been the subject of scientific studies and evaluations.

### **6** References

Anderson, L., Gascho, Z., Gentry, N. & Vannelli, A. (2021). Impact of stress management strategies and intervention on the mental health of farmers: A Critically Appraised Topic. *Critically Appraised Topics*, 38.

Alwall Svennefelt, C. & Lundqvist, P. (2020). Safe farmer common sense – a national five-year education-based program for prevention of occupational injuries in Swedish agriculture – background, process, and evaluation, *Journal of Agromedicine*. 25 (2), 221-230, doi:10.1080/1059924X.2019.1659203

Austin, E.K., Handley, T., Kiem, A.S., Rich, J.L., Lewin, T.J., Askland, H. & Kelly, B.J. (2018). Drought-related stress among farmers: findings from the Australian Rural Mental Health Study. *Medical Journal of Australia, 209*(4), 159-165. doi:10.5694/mja17.01200

Beautrais, A.L. (2018). Farm suicides in New Zealand, 2007-2015: A review of coroners' records. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 52(1), 78-86. doi:10.1177/0004867417704058

Bergström Nilsson, S., Lans Strömblad, H. & Lunner-Kolstrup, C. (2020). *Byråkratin i lantbruket belastar och kostar.* Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Fakulteten för landskapsarkitektur, trädgårds- och växtproduktionsvetenskap. LTV Rapport 2020:7. Alnarp. https://pub.epsilon.slu. se/17534/

Berman, J.D., Ramirez, M.R., Bell, J.E., Bilotta, R., Gerr, F. & Fethke, N.B. (2021). The association between drought conditions and increased occupational psychosocial stress among US farmers: An occupational cohort study. *Science of the Total Environment, 798,* 149245.

Beseler, C. L. & Stallones, L. (2006). Structural equation modeling of the relationships between pesticide poisoning, depressive symptoms and safety behaviors among Colorado farm residents. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 11(3-4), 35-46. doi:10.1300/J096v11n03\_05

Bjornestad, A., Brown, L. & Weidauer, L. (2019). The relationship between social support and depressive symptoms in Midwestern farmers. *Journal of Rural Mental Health*, 43, 4, 109-117.

Bjornestad, A., Cuthbertson, C. & Hendricks, J. (2021). An analysis of suicide risk factors among farmers in the Midwestern United States. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(7). doi:10.3390/ijerph18073563

Bondy, M. & Cole, D.C. (2020). Striving for balance and resilience: Ontario farmers' perceptions of mental health. *Canadian Journal of Community Mental Health.* doi:10.7870/ cjcmh-2020-007

Bower, K.L. & Emerson, K.G. (2021). Exploring contextual factors associated with suicide among older male farmers: Results from the CDC NVDRS dataset. *Clinical Gerontologist*. doi:10.1080/07317115.2021.1893885

Breustedt, G. & Glauben, T. (2007). Driving forces behind exiting from farming in Western Europe. *Journal of Agricultural Economics*, 58(1), 115-127.

Brew, B., Inder, K., Allen, J., Thomas, M. & Kelly, B. (2016). The health and wellbeing of Australian farmers: a longitudinal cohort study. *BMC Public Health*, 16(1), 1-11.

Brigance, C., Mas, F.S., Sanchez, V. & Handal, A.J. (2018). The mental health of the organic farmer: Psychosocial and contextual actors. *Workplace Health & Safety*, 66(12), 606-616. doi:10.1177/2165079918783211

Browning, S.R., Westneat, S.C. & McKnight, R.H. (2008). Suicides among farmers in three southeastern states, 1990-1998. *Journal of Agricultural Safety and Health*, 14(4), 461-472. doi:10.13031/2013.25282

Brumby, S., Chandrasekara, A., Kremer, P., Torres, S., McCoombe, S. & Lewandowski, P. (2013). The effect of physical activity on psychological distress, cortisol and obesity: Results of the farming fit intervention program. *BMC Public Health*, 13. doi:10.1186/ 1471-2458-13-1018

Brumby, S., Chandrasekara, A., McCoombe, S., Torres, S., Kremer, P. & Lewandowski, P. (2011). Reducing psychological distress and obesity in Australian farmers by promoting physical activity. *BMC Public Health*, 11. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-362

Bryant, L. & Garnham, B. (2013). Beyond discourses of drought: The micro-politics of the wine industry and farmer distress. Journal of Rural Studies, 32, 1-9. doi:10.1016/j.jrur-stud.2013.03.002

Bryant, L. & Garnham, B. (2014). Economies, ethics and emotions: Farmer distress within the moral economy of agribusiness. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 34, 304-312. doi:10.1016/j. jrurstud.2014.03.006

Bryant, L. & Garnham, B. (2015). The fallen hero: Masculinity, shame and farmer suicide in Australia. *Gender Place and Culture*, 22(1), 67-82. doi:10.1080/0966369x.2013.855628

Bryant, L. & Garnham, B. (2018). Farming exit and ascriptions of blame: The ordinary ethics of farming communities. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 62, 62-67. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2018.07.004

Ceccato V., Lundqvist P., Abraham J., Göransson E. & Alwall Svennefelt C. (2021). The nature of fear among farmers working with animal production. *International Criminology*, *1*, 193-207. doi:10.1007/s43576-021-00024-z

Cuthbertson, C., Brennan, A., Shutske, J., Zierl, L., Bjornestad, A., Macy, K. & Skidmore, M. (2020). Developing and implementing farm stress training to address agricultural producer mental health. *Health Promotion Practice*, *3*(1). doi:10.1177/1524839920931849

Cuthbertson, C., Eschbach, C. & Shelle, G. (2021). Addressing farm stress through extension mental health literacy programs. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 1-8. doi:10.1080/1059924x.2021.1950590

Demos, K., Sazakli, E., Jelastopulu, E., Charokopos, N., Ellul, J. & Leotsinidis, M. (2013). Does farming have an effect on health status? A comparison study in west Greece. International *Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *10*(3), 776-792. doi:10.3390/ijerph10030776

Dessein, J. & Nevens, F. (2007). 'I'm sad to be glad' – An analysis of farmers' pride in Flanders. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 47(3), 273-292. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9523.2007.00437.x

Douphrate, D.I., Stallones, L., Lunner-Kolstrup, C., Nonnenmann, M.W., Pinzke, S., Hagevoort, G.R., Lundqvist, P., Jakob, M., Xiang, H., Xue, L., Jarvie, P., McCurdy, S.A., Reed, S. & Lower, T. 2013. Work-related injuries and fatalities on dairy farm operations – A global perspective. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *18*(3), 256-264

Edwards, B., Gray, M. & Hunter, B. (2015). The impact of drought on mental health in rural and regional Australia. *Social Indicators Research*, 121(1), 177-194. doi:10.1007/s11205-014-0638-2

Elkind, P.D. (2007). Perceptions of risk, stressors, and locus of control influence intentions to practice safety behaviors in agriculture. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 12(4), 7-25. doi:10.1080/10599240801985167

Ellis, N.R. & Albrecht, G.A. (2017). Climate change threats to family farmers' sense of place and mental wellbeing: A case study from the western Australian wheatbelt. *Social Science & Medicine*, *175*, 161-168. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.01.009

European Commission (EU). (2021). *European Union. Statistical factsheet. June 2021.* https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/food-farming-fisheries/farming/documents/ agri-statistical-factsheet-eu\_en.pdf

Fennell, K.M., Jarrett, C.E., Kettler, L.J., Dollman, J. & Turnbull, D.A. (2016). "Watching the bank balance build up then blow away and the rain clouds do the same": A thematic analysis of South Australian farmers' sources of stress during drought. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *46*, 102-110. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.05.005

Firth, H.M., Williams, S.M., Herbison, G.P. & McGee, R.O. (2007). Stress in New Zealand farmers. **Stress and Health**, **23**(1), 51-58. doi:10.1002/smi.1119

Folkhälsomyndigheten. 2020. *Regionala skillnader var suicid förekommer.* https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/suicidprevention/statistik-om-suicid/regionala-skillnader/

Fuller, J.D., Kelly, B., Law, S., Pollard, G. & Fragar, L. (2009). Service network analysis for agricultural mental health. *BMC Health Services Research*, 9. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-9-87

Garnefski, N., Baan, N. & Kraaij, V. (2005). Psychological distress and cognitive emotion regulation strategies among farmers who fell victim to the foot-and-mouth crisis. *Personality and Individual Differences*, *38*(6), 1317-1327. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2004.08.014

Greenhill, J., King, D., Lane, A. & MacDougall, C. (2009). Understanding resilience in South Australian farm families. *Rural Society: The Journal of Research Into Rural and Regional Social Issues in Australia and New Zealand*, 19(4), 318-325.

Greig, B., Nuthall, P. & Old, K. (2020). An analysis of farmers' human characteristics as drivers of their anxiety. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *25*(1), 135-146. doi:10.1080/105992 4x.2019.1656692

Gunn, K.M., Turnbull, D.A., Dollman, J., Kettler, L., Bamford, L. & Vincent, A.D. (2021). Why are some drought-affected farmers less distressed than others? The association between stress, psychological distress, acceptance, behavioural disengagement and neuroticism. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *29*(1), 106-116. doi:10.1111/ajr.12695

Hagen, B.N.M., Albright, A., Sergeant, J., Winder, C.B., Harper, S.L., O'Sullivan, T.L. & Jones-Bitton, A. (2019). Research trends in farmers' mental health: A scoping review of mental health outcomes and interventions among farming populations worldwide. *PLoS ONE*, *14*(12). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0225661

Hagen, B.N.M., Sawatzky, A., Harper, S.L., O'Sullivan, T.L. & Jones-Bitton, A. (2021). What impacts perceived stress among Canadian farmers? A mixed-methods analysis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(14). doi:10.3390/ijerph18147366

Hajdu, F., Eriksson, C., Waldenström, C. & Westholm, E. (2020). Sveriges förändrade lantbruk: Lantbrukarnas egna röster om förändringar sedan 1990-talet och strategier inför framtiden. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. SLU Future Food Reports 11. Uppsala. https:// www.slu.se/globalassets/ew/org/centrb/fu-food/publikationer/future-food-reports/slu-futurefood\_rapport\_11.pdf

Hammersley, C., Richardson, N., Meredith, D., Carroll, P. & McNamara, J. (2021). "That's me I am the farmer of the land": Exploring identities, masculinities, and health among male farmers in Ireland. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *15*(4), 15579883211035241. doi:10.1177/15579883211035241

Han, G., Schoolman, E.D., Arbuckle, J.G. & Morton, L.W. (2022). Weather, values, capacity and concern: Toward a social-cognitive model of specialty crop farmers' perceptions of climate change risk. *Environment & Behavior*, *54* (2), 327-362. doi:10.1177/00139165211026607

Hanigan, I.C., Butler, C.D., Kokic, P.N. & Hutchinson, M.F. (2012). Suicide and drought in New South Wales, Australia, 1970-2007. Proceedings of the *National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 109(35), 13950-13955. doi:10.1073/pnas.1112965109

Hanigan, I.C., Schirmer, J. & Niyonsenga, T. (2018). Drought and Distress in Southeastern Australia. Ecohealth, 15(3), 642-655. doi:10.1007/s10393-018-1339-0

Heo, W., Lee, J.M. & Park, N. (2020). Financial-related psychological factors affect life satisfaction of farmers. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *80*, 185-194.

Hogan, A., Scarr, E., Lockie, S., Chant, B. & Alston, S. (2012). Ruptured identity of male farmers: Subjective crisis and the risk of suicide. *Journal of Rural Social Sciences*, 27(3), 6.

Hong, Q.N., Fàbregues, S., Bartlett, G., Boardman, F., Cargo, M., Dagenais, P., Gagnong, M.-P., Griffiths, F., Nicolau, B., O'Cathain, A., Rousseau, M.-C., Vedel, I. & Pluye, P. (2018). The Mixed Methods Appraisal Tool (MMAT) version 2018 for information professionals and researchers. *Education for Information*, *34*, 285-291. doi:10.3233/EFI-180221

Hossain, D., Eley, R., Coutts, J. & Gorman, D. (2008). Mental health of farmers in Southern Queensland: Issues and support. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, 16(6), 343-348. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1584.2008.01014.x

Hossain, D., Gorman, D., Eley, R. & Coutts, J. (2010). Value of mental health first aid training of advisory and extension agents in supporting farmers in rural Queensland. *Rural and Remote Health*, *10*(4). Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000286342700028

Hounsome, B., Edwards, R.T., Hounsome, N. & Edwards-Jones, G. (2012). Psychological morbidity of farmers and non-farming population: Results from a UK survey. *Community Mental Health Journal*, *48*(4), 503-510.

International Labour Organization (ILO). (2011). *Safety and health in agriculture*. ILO code of practice. Geneva. https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_dialogue/---sector/ documents/normativeinstrument/wcms\_161135.pdf

Jones, A., Jakob, M. & McNamara, J. (2020). Review of the future of agriculture and occupational safety and health (OSH): Foresight on new and emerging risks in OSH, European Agency for Safety and Health at Work. European Risk Observatory. Report, Bilbao, Spain, doi:10.2802/769257

Jones, M.S., Reed, D.B. & Hunt, M.L. (2018). Suicide: An unrecognized epidemic among farmers. *Workplace Health & Safety, 66*(9), 464-464. doi:10.1177/2165079918784055

Jones-Bitton, A., Best, C., MacTavish, J., Fleming, S. & Hoy, S. (2020). Stress, anxiety, depression, and resilience in Canadian farmers. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 55(2), 229-236. doi:10.1007/s00127-019-01738-2

Jones-Bitton, A., Hagen, B., Fleming, S.J. & Hoy, S. (2019). Farmer burnout in Canada. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 16(24). doi:10.3390/ ijerph16245074

Jordbruksverket. (2022a). Strategi för arbetsmiljö inom jordbruks- och trädgårdsnäringen. Jordbruksverket. Rapport 2022:16. Jönköping. https://www2.jordbruksverket.se/ download/18.320b8a2e18403374bd7671fe/1666601052673/ra22\_16.pdf

Jordbruksverket. (2022b). *Facts about Swedish agriculture*. https://www2.jordbruksverket. se/webdav/files/SJV/trycksaker/Pdf\_ovrigt/ovr2gb.pdf

Judd, F., Jackson, H., Fraser, C., Murray, G., Robins, G. & Komiti, A. (2006). Understanding suicide in Australian farmers. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 41(1), 1-10. doi:10.1007/s00127-005-0007-1

Kallioniemi, M.K., Kaseva, J., Lunner-Kolstrup, C., Simola, A. & Kymalainen, H.R. (2018). Job resources and work engagement among Finnish dairy farmers. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 23(3), 249-261. doi:10.1080/1059924x.2018.1470047

Kallioniemi, M.K., Simola, A., Kaseva, J. & Kymalainen, H. R. (2016). Stress and Burnout Among Finnish Dairy Farmers. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *21*(3), 259-268. doi:10.1080/10599 24x.2016.1178611

Kallioniemi, M. K., Simola, A. J., Kymäläinen, H.R., Vesala, H.T. & Louhelainen, J.K. (2008). Stress among Finnish farm entrepreneurs. *Annals of Agricultural & Environmental Medicine*, *15*(2), 243-249.

Kanamori, M., Hanazato, M., Kondo, K., Stickley, A. & Kondo, N. (2021). Neighborhood farm density, types of agriculture, and depressive symptoms among older farmers: A cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health, 21(1), 440. doi:10.1186/s12889-021-10469-6

Karasek R. (1979). Job demands, job decision latitude, and mental strain: Implications for job redesign. *Administrative Science Quarterly*; 24(2):285-308. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2392498?seq=1

Karasek, R.A. & Theorell, T. (1992). *Healthy work. Stress, productivity, and the reconstruction of working life.* New York, Basic Books.

Kavalidou, K., McPhedran, S. & De Leo, D. (2015). Farmers' contact with health care services prior to suicide: Evidence for the role of general practitioners as an intervention point. *Australian Journal of Primary Health*, *21*(1), 102-105.

Kearney, G.D., Rafferty, A.P., Hendricks, L.R., Allen, D.L. & Tutor-Marcom, R. (2014). A cross-sectional study of stressors among farmers in eastern *North Carolina*. *North Carolina Medical Journal*, 75(6),384-392. doi:10.18043/ncm.75.6.384

Kennedy, A., Adams, J., Dwyer, J., Rahman, M.A. & Brumby, S. (2020). Suicide in rural Australia: Are farming-related suicides different? *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(6), 2010. doi10.3390/ijerph17062010

Kennedy, A., Cosgrave, C., Macdonald, J., Gunn, K., Dietrich, T. & Brumby, S. (2021). Translating co-design from face-to-face to online: An Australian primary producer project conducted during COVID-19. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18,* 4147.

Kunde, L., Kolves, K., Kelly, B., Reddy, P. & De Leo, D. (2018). "The masks we wear": A qualitative study of suicide in Australian farmers. *Journal of Rural Health*, *34*(3), 254-262. doi:10.1111/jrh.12290

Kuriger, C.R. (2016). Coping strategies that New Zealand dairy farmers use to combat stress. University of Waikato

LaBrash, L.F., Pahwa, P., Pickett, W., Hagel, L.M., Snodgrass, P.R. & Dosman, J.A. (2008). Relationship between sleep loss and economic worry among farmers: A survery of 94 active Saskatchewan noncorporate farms. **Journal of Agromedicine**, **13**(3), 149-154. doi:10.1080/10599240802371862

Lantbrukarnas Riksförbund (LRF). (2022). Fakta om det svenska lantbruket. https://www.bondeniskolan.se/lantbruk/fakta-om-det-svenska-lantbruket/

Liang, Y.N., Wang, K., Janssen, B., Casteel, C., Nonnenmann, M. & Rohlman, D.S. (2021). Examination of symptoms of depression among cooperative dairy farmers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(7). doi:10.3390/ijerph18073657

Logstein, B. (2016a). Farm-related concerns and mental health status among Norwegian farmers. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 21(4), 316-326. doi:10.1080/1059924x.2016.1211055

Logstein, B. (2016b). Predictors of mental complaints among Norwegian male farmers. *Occupational Medicine-Oxford*, 66(4), 332-337. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqw019

Lower, T., Rolfe, M. & Monaghan, N. (2017). Trends and patterns in unintentional injury fatalities in Australian agriculture. *Journal of Agricultural Safety and Health*. 23(2): 139-151. doi:10.13031/jash.12091@2017

Lundqvist, P., Ceccato, V., Göransson, E., Abraham, J. & Alwall Svennefelt, C. (2022). *Kritik, kriminalitet och hot mot svensk djurproduktion: Lantbruksföretagarnas perspektiv.* Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Fakulteten för landskapsarkitektur, trädgårds- och växtproduktionsvetenskap. LTV Rapport 2022:3. Alnarp. https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/id/eprint/27006

Lunner-Kolstrup, C., Horndahl, T. & Karttunen, J.P. (2018). Farm operators' experiences of advanced technology and automation in Swedish agriculture: A pilot study. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 23(3), 215-226. doi:10.1080/1059924x.2018.1458670

Lunner-Kolstrup, C. & Lundqvist, P. (2013). Lantbrukets & landsbygdens psykosociala puls. Screening av psykosociala arbetsförhållanden, psykisk hälsa och sociala nätverk bland lantbrukare och landsbygdsföretagare. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Fakulteten för landskapsarkitektur, trädgårds- och växtproduktionsvetenskap. LTJ Rapport 2013:20. Alnarp. https://pub.epsilon.slu.se/10578/

Lunner-Kolstrup, C., Kallioniemi, M., Lundqvist, P., Kymalainen, H.R., Stallones, L. & Brumby, S. (2013). International perspectives on psychosocial working conditions, mental health, and stress of dairy farm operators. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *18*(3), 244-255. doi:10.1080/1 059924x.2013.796903

Magnin, L., Chappuis, M., Normand, G., Pereira, B., Lezé, S. & Lesens, O. (2017). Health issues and mental distress in French active farmers: A quantitative and qualitative study. *International Journal of Environmental & Agriculture Research*, *3*(9), 12-22.

McKenzie, S., Jenkin, G. & Collings, S. (2016). Men's perspectives of common mental health problems: A metasynthesis of qualitative research. *International Journal of Men's Health*, *15*(1), 80-104.

McLaren, S. & Challis, C. (2009). Resilience among men farmers: The protective roles of social support and sense of belonging in the depression-suicidal ideation relation. *Death Studies*, *33*(3), 262-276. doi:10.1080/07481180802671985

McPhedran, S. & De Leo, D. (2013). Risk factors for suicide among rural men: Are farmers more socially isolated? *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy*, *33*(11/12), 762-772. doi:10.1108/IJSSP-03-2013-0038

McShane, C. J. & Quirk, F. (2009). Mediating and moderating effects of work-home interference upon farm stresses and psychological distress. *The Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *17*(5), 244-250. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1584.2009.01085.x

Morgan, M.I., Hine, D.W., Bhullar, N., Dunstan, D.A. & Bartik, W. (2016). Fracked: Coal seam gas extraction and farmers' mental health. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, *47*, 22-32. doi:10.1016/j.jenvp.2016.04.012

Muri, K., Tufte, P.A., Coleman, G. & Moe, R.O. (2020). Exploring work-related characteristics as predictors of Norwegian sheep farmers' affective job satisfaction. *Sociologia Ruralis*, 60(3), 574-595. doi:10.1111/soru.12299

Murray, M., Beattie, J., McLeod, C., Pedler, D., Brumby, S.A. & Gabbe, B. (2019). 'It could have been a lot worse': The psychological effects of farm-related serious injury in Victoria. *Rural Remote Health*, *19*(3), 5323. doi:10.22605/rrh5323

Niska, M., Vesala, H.T. & Vesala, K.M. (2012). Peasantry and entrepreneurship as frames for farming: Reflections on farmers' values and agricultural policy discourses. *Sociologia Ruralis*, *52*(4), 453-469. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9523.2012.00572.x

Nordström Källström H. (2008). *Mellan trivsel och ensamhet: Om sociala villkor i lantbruket*. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet. Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae: doctoral thesis 2008:74. Uppsala.

Odabasi, S. & Hartarska, V. (2021). Farmer suicides: Effects of socio-economic, climate, and mental health factors. *Journal of Mental Health Policy and Economics*, 24(2), 61-71. Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000661254400003

Onwuameze, O.E., Paradiso, S., Peek-Asa, C., Donham, K.J. & Rautiainen, R.H. (2013). Modifiable risk factors for depressed mood among farmers. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 25(2), 83-90.

Pinzke, S. (2018). Stress och trötthet som orsak till olycksfall inom jordbruket: En kunskapssammanställning. Sveriges lantbruksuniversitet, Fakulteten för landskapsarkitektur, trädgårds- och växtproduktionsvetenskap. LTV Rapport 2018:6. Alnarp. https://pub.epsilon.slu. se/15739/

Peel, D., Berry, H.L. & Schirmer, J. (2016). Farm exit intention and wellbeing: A study of Australian farmers. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *47*, 41-51. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2016.07.006

Perceval, M., Kolves, K., Reddy, P. & De Leo, D. (2017). Farmer suicides: A qualitative study from *Australia*. *Occupational Medicine-Oxford*, 67(5), 383-388. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqx055

Perceval, M., Kolves, K., Ross, V., Reddy, P. & De Leo, D. (2019). Environmental factors and suicide in Australian farmers: *A qualitative study. Archives of Environmental & Occupational Health*, 74(5), 279-286.

Polain, J.D., Berry, H.L. & Hoskin, J.O. (2011). Rapid change, climate adversity and the next 'big dry': Older farmers' mental health. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *19*(5), 239-243.

Qualman, D., Akram-Lodhi, A.H., Desmarais, A.A. & Srinivasan, S. (2018). Forever young? The crisis of generational renewal on Canada's farms. *Canadian Food Studies/La Revue canadienne des études sur l'alimentation*, *5*(3), 100-127.

Rawolle, T.A., Sadauskas, D., van Kessel, G. & Dollman, J. (2016). Farmers' perceptions of health in the Riverland region of South *Australia: 'If it's broke, fix it'. Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *24*(5), 312-316.

Regeringen. 2021. Uppdrag att ta fram en strategi och genomföra åtgärder för att minska olycksriskerna och förbättra arbetsmiljön i jordbruket och trädgårdsnäringen. Regeringsbeslut 2021-11-03. N2021/02771, N2019/02607. Näringsdepartementet. Stockholm. https://www. regeringen.se/regeringsuppdrag/2021/11/uppdrag-att-ta-fram-en-strategi-och-genomfo-ra-atgarder-for-att-minska-olycksriskerna-och-forbattra-arbetsmiljon-i-jordbruket-och-trad-gardsnaringen/

Rose, D.C., Parker, C., Fodey, J.O.E., Park, C., Sutherland, W.J. & Dicks, L.V. (2018). Involving stakeholders in agricultural decision support systems: Improving user-centred design. *International Journal of Agricultural Management*, *6*, 80-89.

Roy, P., Tremblay, G., Oliffe, J.L., Jbilou, J. & Robertson, S. (2013). Male farmers with mental health disorders: A scoping review. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *21*(1), 3-7. doi:10.1111/ajr.12008

Roy, P., Tremblay, G. & Robertson, S. (2014). Help-seeking among male farmers: Connecting masculinities and mental health. *Sociologia Ruralis*, *54*(4), 460-476. doi:10.1111/soru.12045

Roy, P., Tremblay, G., Robertson, S. & Houle, J. (2017). "Do it all by myself": A salutogenic approach of masculine health practice among farming men coping with stress. *American Journal of Men's Health*, *11*(5), 1536-1546.

Rudolphi, J.M., Berg, R. & Marlenga, B. (2019). Who and how: Exploring the preferred senders and channels of mental health information for Wisconsin farmers. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(20). doi:10.3390/ijerph16203836

Rudolphi, J.M., Berg, R.L. & Parsaik, A. (2020). Depression, anxiety and stress among young farmers and ranchers: A pilot study. *Community Mental Health Journal*, 56(1), 126-134. doi:10.1007/s10597-019-00480-y

Saarni, S.I., Saarni, E.S. & Saarni, H. (2008). Quality of life, work ability, and self employment: A population survey of entrepreneurs, farmers, and salary earners. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 65(2), 98-103.

Santos, E.G.D., Queiroz, P.R., Nunes, A.D.D., Vedana, K.G.G. & Barbosa, I.R. (2021). Factors associated with suicidal behavior in farmers: A systematic review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(12). doi:10.3390/ijerph18126522

Sartore, G.-M., Kelly, B. & Stain, H.J. (2007). Drought and its effect on mental health: How GPs can help. *Australian Family Physician*, 36(12).

Sartore, G.-M., Kelly, B., Stain, H. J., Fuller, J., Fragar, L. & Tonna, A. (2008). Improving mental health capacity in rural communities: Mental health first aid delivery in drought-affected rural New South Wales. *Australian Journal of Rural Health*, *16*(5), 313-318.

Schweitzer, R.A., Deboy, G.R., Jones, P.J. & Field, W.E. (2011). AgrAbility mental/behavioral health for farm/ranch families with disabilities. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *16*(2), 87-98. doi:1 0.1080/1059924x.2011.554766

Shea, B.J., Grimshaw, J.M., Wells, G.A., Boers, M., Andersson, N., Hamel, C., et al. (2007a). Development of AMSTAR: A measurement tool to assess the methodological quality of systematic reviews. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 7(10).

Shea, B.J., Bouter, L.M., Peterson, J., Boers, M., Andersson, N., Ortiz, Z., et al. (2007b). External validation of a measurement tool to assess systematic reviews (AMSTAR). PLoS ONE, 2(12), e1350.

Shortall, S. (2014). Farming, identity and well-being: Managing changing gender roles within Western European farm families. *Anthropological Notebooks*, 20(3).

Smith, K. (2020). Desolation in the countryside: How agricultural crime impacts the mental health of British farmers. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *80*, 522-531. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud. 2020.10.037

Sprung, J.M. (2021). Economic stress, family distress, and work-family conflict among farm couples. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 27(2), 1-15.

Stain, H.J., Kelly, B., Lewin, T.J., Higginbotham, N., Beard, J.R. & Hourihan, F. (2008). Social networks and mental health among a farming population. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 43(10), 843-849. doi:10.1007/s00127-008-0374-5

Stark, C., Gibbs, D., Hopkins, P., Belbin, A., Hay, A. & Selvaraj, S. (2006). Suicide in farmers in Scotland. *Rural & Remote Health*, 6(1), 1-9.

Stark, O. & Falkowski, J. (2019). On structural change, the social stress of a farming population, and the political economy of farm support. *Economics of Transition*, 27(1), 201-222. doi:10.1111/ecot.12192

Steck, N., Junker, C., Bopp, M., Egger, M. & Zwahlen, M. (2020). Time trend of suicide in Swiss male farmers and comparison with other men: A cohort study. Swiss Medical Weekly 150:w20251.

Stier-Jarmer, M., Oberhauser, C., Frisch, D., Berberich, G., Loew, T., Schels-Klemens, C., . . . Schuh, A. (2020). A multimodal stress-prevention program supplemented by telephonecoaching sessions to reduce perceived stress among German farmers: Results from a randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(24). doi:10.3390/ijerph17249227

Thelin, A. & Holmberg, S. (2010). Farmers and retirement: A longitudinal cohort study. *Journal of Agromedicine*, *15*(1), 38-46.

Tinc, P.J. & Sorensen, J.A. (2020). Stakeholders Team up for Action in New York Dairy (STAND): A collaborative action-planning workshop to combat toxic stress among New York dairy farmers. *Journal of Agromedicine*, 25(1), 122-125. doi:10.1080/105992 4x.2019.1659202 Torske, M.O., Hilt, B., Bjorngaard, J.H., Glasscock, D. & Krokstad, S. (2015). Disability pension and symptoms of anxiety and depression: A prospective comparison of farmers and other occupational groups: The HUNT study, Norway. *BMJ Open*, *5*(11). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-009114

Torske, M.O., Hilt, B., Glasscock, D., Lundqvist, P. & Krokstad, S. (2016). Anxiety and depression symptoms among farmers: The HUNT study, Norway. Journal of Agromedicine, 21(1), 24-33. doi:10.1080/1059924x.2015.1106375

Waldman, K.B., Giroux, S.A., Farmer, J.R., Heaberlin, B.M., Blekking, J.P. & Todd, P.M. (2021). Socioeconomic threats are more salient to farmers than environmental threats. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *86*, 508-517.

Wallis, A. & Dollard, M.F. (2008). Local and global factors in work stress: The Australian dairy farming examplar. *Scandinavian Journal of Work Environment & Health, 66-74*. Retrieved from <Go to ISI>://WOS:000259091900009

Watanabe-Galloway, S., Chasek, C., Yoder, A.M. & Bell, J.E. (2022). Substance use disorders in the farming population: Scoping review. *Journal of Rural Health*, *38*(1):129-150. doi:10.1111/jrh.12575

Vayro, C., Brownlow, C., Ireland, M. & March, S. (2020). 'Farming is not just an occupation but a whole lifestyle': A qualitative examination of lifestyle and cultural factors affecting mental health help-seeking in Australian farmers. *Sociologia Ruralis*, *60*(1), 151-173. doi:10.1111/soru.12274

Vayro, C., Brownlow, C., Ireland, M. & March, S. (2021). "Don't... break down on Tuesday because the mental health services are only in town on Thursday": A qualitative study of service provision related barriers to, and facilitators of farmers' mental health help-seeking. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, *48*(3), 514-527.

Vesala, H.T. & Vesala, K.M. (2010). Entrepreneurs and producers: Identities of Finnish farmers in 2001 and 2006. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *26*(1), 21-30. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud. 2009.06.001

Wilhite, C.S., Jaco, M.L., Chavez, C., Perez, C., Gomez, M. & Neugebauer, T.A. (2020). Agriculture for life: A guide for health promotion and participation for farmers with health challenges. *Journal of Consumer Health on the Internet*, 24(2), 92-110.

Witt, C.D., Reed, D.B., Rayens, M.K. & Hunsucker, S. (2020). Predictors of job satisfaction in female farmers aged 50 and over: Implications for occupational health nurses. *Workplace Health and Safety*, *68*(11), 526-532. doi:10.1177/2165079920931895

Woollacott, R. (2020). Walking with farmers and talking about suicidal feelings: An interpretative phenomenological analysis. University of the West of England, Bristol.

Yazd, S.D., Wheeler, S.A. & Zuo, A. (2019). Exploring the drivers of irrigator mental health in the Murray-Darling Basin, Australia. *Sustainability*, *11*(21). doi:10.3390/su11216097

Zahl-Thanem, A., Burton, J.F., Blekesaune, A., Haugen, M.S. & Rønningen, K. (2020). The impact of wolves on psychological distress among farmers in Norway. *Journal of Rural Studies*, *78*, 1-11. doi:10.1016/j.jrurstud.2020.05.010.



Swedish Agency for Work Environment Expertise

www.mynak.se

ISBN 978-91-89747-20-3